RECEIVED

Jan 19 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2021-000585

Ana Rodriguez Galvan, Respondent,

v.

Griffin Stafford North Charleston, Employer; Accident Fund General Insurance Company c/o Accident Fund Insurance Company of America, Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co., and Employers Preferred Insurance Company, Carriers, Defendants,

of whom Griffin Stafford North Charleston, Employer, and Employers Preferred Insurance Company, Carrier, are the Appellants,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Appellate Panel err in finding that the Claimant is not at maximum medical improvement for her right shoulder injury occurring on October 9, 2015 when the evidence in the record, including the opinions of Dr. James McCoy, Dr. Richard Friedman and Dr. Bright McConnell, indicates that the Claimant reached maximum medical improvement?
2. Did the Appellate Panel err in not addressing whether the Claimant is entitled to any permanent disability benefits for loss of use of the right shoulder as a result of her October 9, 2015 injury?
3. Did the Appellate Panel err in finding Employers Preferred Insurance Company is responsible for ongoing medical care for the Claimant's right shoulder following her subsequent rotator cuff tear that occurred after the Claimant reached maximum medical impairment for her October 9, 2015 injury and after she had a one year lapse in treatment?
4. Did the Appellate Panel err in finding that the Claimant's current condition emanates from the original October 9, 2015 injury when the evidence in the record indicates that the Claimant suffered an intervening aggravation injury or repetitive trauma to her right shoulder sufficient to break the chain of causation from the October 9, 2015 injury?
5. Did Appellate Panel err in finding that Dr. George Pappas, the Claimant's IME physician, shall be the new treating physician authorized by Employers Preferred Insurance Company and not allowing the Defendants to select a treating physician following the authorized treating physician's retirement from performing surgical operations?
6. Did the Appellate Panel err in allowing a supplemental questionnaire from Dr. George Pappas to be included in the record in violation of South Carolina Code Ann. Regulation 67-612 when the document was mailed to the parties on April 14, 2019 prior to the April 23, 2019 hearing and was not identified on Claimant's Form 58 Pre-Hearing Brief in accordance with Morgan v. JPS Auto., 321 SC 201, 476 S.E.2d 457 (Ct. App. 1996)?

STATEMENT OF CASE

The Claimant sustained an admitted injury to her right shoulder on October 9, 2015 in the course of her employment with Griffin Stafford N. Charleston. Employers Preferred Insurance Company provided coverage for the Employer at the time of said accident. Griffin Stafford N. Charleston and Employers Preferred Insurance Company (hereinafter referred to as "Appellants") respectfully contend that the evidence and applicable law supports that the Claimant reached maximum medical improvement ("MMI") for her October 9, 2015 right shoulder injury and that the Claimant's current need for treatment regarding her right shoulder emanates from either a subsequent injury or repetitive trauma that occurred after the Claimant reached MMI in the underlying workers' compensation claim.

This matter came before the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission pursuant to the Claimant's Form 50 and the Forms 51 filed by all Defendants. The Claimant asserted that she is entitled to additional medical treatment related to her original October 9, 2015 injury. At the hearing before the single Commissioner, the Claimant amended her Form 50 and requested to hold the compensability of her neck in abeyance pending a surgical outcome regarding her right shoulder. The Claimant requested to hold a ruling on her permanent disability benefits in abeyance as well.

The Appellants assert that the Claimant reached MMI for her October 9, 2015 injury by September 28, 2016 based on the opinion of the authorized treating physician, Dr. James McCoy, and the concurring opinions of Dr. Bright McConnell and Dr. Richard Friedman. The Appellants deny responsibility for the Claimant's further medical treatment after the date she reached MMI due to the aggravation of her right shoulder condition.

Moreover, the Appellants deny responsibility for providing the Claimant with shoulder surgery to repair a rotator cuff tear identified by Dr. McCoy on a December 12, 2017 MRI. Dr. McCoy testified that the tear likely occurred two to three months prior to the MRI based on the acute tear having fresh edges and no retraction of the muscle noted on the images. Dr. McCoy testified that the new tear likely occurred due to the Claimant's repetitive type of work activities or some acute incident after the Claimant reached MMI for the October 9, 2015 injury. As Dr. McCoy testified that the Claimant had a worsening in her condition after reaching MMI for her October 9, 2015 right shoulder injury, the Appellants denied responsibility for providing the Claimant further medical treatment for the new tear.

Accident Fund General Insurance Company (hereinafter "Accident Fund") provided coverage for the Employer at the time of the December 12, 2017 MRI and thus was added as a defendant following the Claimant filing a motion to add. Hartford Accident and Indemnity Company (herein after "Hartford") was added as a defendant following the Claimant filing a motion to add as Hartford provided coverage for the Employer on April 12, 2018, the day Dr. McCoy testified as to the cause of the Claimant's subsequent rotator cuff tear. Accident Fund and Hartford both denied responsibility for providing the Claimant with medical treatment.

The single Commissioner issued a Decision and Order on August 20 2019 concluding, *inter alia*, that the Appellants are responsible for the Claimant's ongoing medical care for her right shoulder recommended by Dr. Pappas and Dr. McCoy; that Accident Fund and Hartford are released from the claim; and that the issue of compensability for the Claimant's neck and permanency to the right shoulder are in abeyance. Appellants timely requested Full Commission review by way of a Form 30 dated

August 30, 2019. Oral arguments were held before the Appellant Panel on November 19, 2019 and the Appellate Panel affirmed the single Commissioner's finding in a Decision and Order dated May 4, 2021. Thereafter, the Appellants served the Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals on May 28, 2021.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act governs review of the Full Commission Appellate Panel's decisions. *See Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). Although the Appellate Panel is the ultimate finder of fact in workers' compensation cases, an appellate court may reserve or modify a decision of the Appellate Panel if the findings and conclusions are "affected by error of law, clearly erroneous in view of the reliable and substantial evidence on the whole record, or arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion." *Gray v. Club Grp., Ltd.*, 339 S.C. 173, 182, 528 S.E.2d 435, 440 (Ct. App. 2000). *See S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(A)(6)(d),(e)*(Supp. 1997).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Claimant initially presented to Health First on October 10, 2015 complaining of shoulder pain (R. pp. 086-088). Thereafter an MRI of the right shoulder was performed on November 2, 2015 at Lowcountry Orthopaedics and Sports Medicine (R. p. 123). The MRI report revealed that the Claimant had a full thickness minimally retracted tear involving the supraspinatus tendon with minimal partial thickness infraspinatus and subscapularis tendon tears (R. p. 123). Thereafter Dr. James Spearman at Lowcountry Orthopaedics recommended surgical intervention to repair the rotator cuff (R. p. 120). Dr.

James McCoy performed the arthroscopic right shoulder surgery with mini open rotator cuff repair on February 24, 2016 (R. pp. 116-117). At a follow-up visit, Dr. McCoy expressed that it was his opinion the Claimant was doing better in regards to her shoulder than she believed she was (R. p. 111). The Claimant also had numbness complaints in the right hand, primarily the middle and little finger, which Dr. McCoy described as a bit of a puzzle (R. p. 111). In that respect, Dr. McCoy recommended a nerve conduction study of the right upper extremity which was performed on May 12, 2016 (R. pp. 098-099, 111). The EMG/NCS was a normal study (R. p. 098). Further, Dr. Shailesh Patel noted on May 12, 2016 that the EMG/NCS was negative for carpal tunnel or peripheral neuropathy. Dr. Patel suspected the Claimant's complaints stemmed from more of a cervical etiology and recommended x-rays/MRI of the cervical spine (R. pp. 106-108). The cervical MRI was performed at Imaging Specialists on August 18, 2016, which was noted to be unremarkable with the exception of minimal degenerative disc disease at C5-6 (R. pp. 668-669). No significant neuroforaminal or spinal canal narrowing was noted at any level (R. pp. 668-669). Dr. McCoy indicated that the nerve conduction study and MRI of the cervical spine did not lead the physicians to believe there was any severe nerve involvement or issues with the cervical spine (R. p. 658).

Dr. Keith Santiago, a hand specialist at Lowcountry Orthopaedics, evaluated the Claimant's hand complaints and indicated she could return to regular duty as tolerated from a right hand standpoint (R. p. 642). At the final visit with Dr. Santiago on November 8, 2016, Dr. Santiago noted that the Claimant was performing regular duty without difficulty and thus could continue work without any permanent work restrictions (R. pp. 650-651). Dr. Santiago further indicated that the Claimant would not require any future medical

treatment for her hand and he indicated that she does not have any permanent impairment to the right upper extremity (R. pp. 650-651).

After the Claimant's right shoulder surgery and physical therapy, she returned to work on August 15, 2016 (R. p. 597). On August 3, 2016, Dr. McCoy noted that the Claimant had made great strides in regards to motion over the last month and that she was anticipated to make progress in strengthening to ultimately get her back to her regular job (R. p. 639). At the follow-up appointment on September 28, 2016, Dr. McCoy indicated the Claimant had reached MMI, could continue on permanent light duty, and would require future medical care including anti-inflammatory medications periodically with an occasional injection of the right shoulder (R. p. 648). Dr. McCoy also opined the Claimant had a 15% permanent impairment of the right shoulder, could return on an as-need basis and would likely see her motion improve slightly over the next year as well as her strength (R. p. 648).

The Claimant sought an independent opinion from Dr. Richardson at Southeastern Spine Institute on October 25, 2016 (R. p. 186). Dr. Richardson noted that the Claimant had normal bulk and tone and 5/5 strength in all groups except for the right deltoid where strength was diminished with abduction possibly related to pain (R. p. 186). He also noted that the cervical range of motion was fairly normal and there were no long track or sensory deficits noted. Dr. Richardson further indicated that the cervical spine MRI scan was reviewed and discussed with the Claimant. Dr. Richardson described the MRI as a fairly normal-appearing study (R. p. 187). Dr. Richardson recommended physical therapy and a return to Dr. McCoy (R. p. 187).

Pursuant to the Claimant's request, the Appellants authorized a second opinion with

Dr. Bright McConnell, which was performed on April 14, 2017. During that evaluation, the Claimant stated that her residual issue with respect to her right shoulder was the persistence of pain particularly with her horizontal or overhead activity (R. p. 191). Dr. McConnell indicated that the Claimant's right shoulder examination revealed no evidence for any significant deltoid atrophy and that her strength was a 5/5 throughout the radial median and ulnar nerve distribution (R. p. 192). Dr. McConnell noted that he agreed with Dr. McCoy that the Claimant reached MMI for her October 9, 2015 right shoulder injury. Specifically, Dr. McConnell indicated that he did not believe surgical intervention would be necessary; however, the Claimant could consider non-provocative progressive range of motion of the shoulder and an occasional injection (R. p. 794).

Dr. McCoy completed a Form 14B, Physician's Statement, on February 9, 2017 wherein he verified that the Claimant reached MMI on September 28, 2016. He further opined that the Claimant had a permanent impairment of 15% to the right shoulder, no other affected body parts, permanent limited duty work restrictions and would need future medical care of anti-inflammatory medicines periodically and an occasional injection of the right shoulder (R. p. 687).

The Claimant's personnel file verified that she switched from a room attendant to a housekeeping supervisor at Suburban Extended Stay Hotel on August 29, 2016 which resulted in a raise from \$9.75 per hour to \$10.00 per hour (R. p. 688).

After a one year lapse in treatment with Dr. McCoy, the Claimant returned on September 20, 2017 complaining of pain when she was working and pain at night (R. p. 654). Dr. McCoy noted that the Claimant was one year post-MMI and occasionally was taking Tylenol for pain (R. p. 654). At that visit, x-rays were performed which revealed

that the bone anchor placed during the rotator cuff repair was in good position (R. p. 655). Dr. McCoy indicated the Claimant may have subacromial bursitis and he injected the right shoulder (R. p. 655). The Claimant returned on November 1, 2017 wherein Dr. McCoy indicated that he had to be suspicious of the possibility of a new rotator cuff tear therefore he thought an MRI of the right shoulder would be appropriate (R. p. 658). The MRI of the right shoulder was performed on December 12, 2017 at South Carolina Diagnostic Imaging (R. p. 666). At the follow up visit on December 27, 2017 after the MRI, Dr. McCoy indicated that the Claimant had a small new through and through tear which could possibly require surgical repair (R. p. 661)(emphasis added). At the visit on March 29, 2018, Dr. McCoy indicated that the Claimant continued to have aggravation at home and at the job therefore a new surgery including debridement and/or repair of the rotator cuff would be necessary (R. p. 664).

When the Claimant was asked at her March 14, 2018 catch-up deposition as to what was making her right shoulder condition worse, the Claimant cited movement at work such as opening drawers during the course of her housekeeping inspections (R. pp. 330-331). The Claimant also described that part of her housekeeping supervisory duties included folding small towels for approximately two hours per day of every shift (R. p. 333). At the Claimant's third deposition on October 28, 2018 after Hartford was added as a Carrier Defendant, the Claimant testified that she had continuously been worsening over the six months prior to the March 14, 2018 deposition (R. p. 376). At that point, the Claimant testified that she had been limiting the use of her right hand at work in the six months prior to the October 28, 2018 deposition (R. pp. 377-378).

Dr. McCoy was deposed on April 12, 2018. During the deposition, Dr. McCoy

testified that the nerve conduction study performed prior to the Claimant reaching MMI indicated that there was no evidence of peripheral neuropathy, cervical radiculopathy or carpal tunnel syndrome (R. p. 429, lines 19-23). Furthermore, Dr. McCoy described the rationale on referring the Claimant for a cervical MRI and indicated that the findings on the MRI did not explain the Claimant's complaints (R. p. 430, lines 2-18). Dr. McCoy confirmed that he placed the Claimant at MMI for the October 9, 2015 injury on September 28, 2016 (R. p. 430, lines 19-22). Dr. McCoy also testified that the only future medical treatment that he anticipated at the time of placing the Claimant at MMI was anti-inflammatory medications periodically and occasional injections for the right shoulder related to the October 9, 2015 injury (R. p. 432, lines 4-11).

Dr. McCoy testified that he did not see the Claimant for a year after he placed her at MMI (R. p. 432, lines 22-24). According to Dr. McCoy, when the Claimant returned, she indicated that she was having pain at work (R. p. 433, lines 10-13). Dr. McCoy testified that he performed an injection of the shoulder and based on the Claimant's lack of improvement, he ruled out bursitis as the source of her discomfort (R. p. 434, lines 2-13). Dr. McCoy also testified that the radiologist who performed the subsequent MRI on December 12, 2017 did not read it in comparison with the November 2, 2015 MRI but Dr. McCoy was able to obtain the images and place them side by side (R. p. 434, lines 21-25). According to Dr. McCoy, when comparing the MRIs, you could see that there was a new different tear in the rotator cuff which he interpreted to be a full thickness tear (R. p. 435, lines 2-5). When asked whether the new tear was a reoccurrence, Dr. McCoy testified that you can have a re-tear of a previously repaired tendon but, in this situation, the Claimant had a new tear which was slightly posterior and slightly towards the back of the rotator

cuff compared with the full thickness tear that was addressed after the October 9, 2015 injury (R. p. 435, line 19 – R. p. 436, line 3). Furthermore, Dr. McCoy testified that the rotator cuff tear that was surgically repaired after the October 9, 2015 accident was still intact in reviewing the December 12, 2017 MRI (R. p. 436, lines 4-7). Dr. McCoy also testified that he did not anticipate from the October 9, 2015 injury that the Claimant would have any new subsequent tears after being released at MMI (R. p. 436, lines 8-13). Dr. McCoy was asked if he had any idea how the Claimant's subsequent tear occurred and he testified "I have to think it is basically part of the repetitive type work that she does" (R. p. 436, lines 14-17). Dr. McCoy confirmed that the 10 hours per week that the Claimant spends folding towels could have been the repetitive activity that led to the new rotator cuff tear (R. p. 436, lines 18-25).

Dr. McCoy also testified that the new tear addressed on the December 12, 2017 MRI demonstrates a worsening of the Claimant's prior condition from the October 9, 2015 accident (R. p. 437, lines 1-6). In terms of the timeline of the new rotator cuff tear occurring, Dr. McCoy testified that the December 12, 2017 MRI revealed an acute tear with fresh edges and no retraction of the muscle. Therefore, it was his opinion that the new tear likely occurred between 2-3 months prior to the December 12, 2017 MRI (R. p. 438, line 12 – R. p. 439, line 8). Furthermore, Dr. McCoy testified that he is no longer performing surgery and that is the only reason that the Claimant has been referred to someone else in his practice at this point (R. p. 439, lines 9-15).

Dr. McCoy confirmed that the Claimant's need for treatment at this point is related to the new rotator cuff tear identified on the December 12, 2017 MRI which was not present on the first MRI in November 2015 or at the time of her rotator cuff repair for the October

9, 2015 injury (R. p. 448, lines 22-25 and R. p. 450, lines 6-12). Although Dr. McCoy is of the opinion that the original injury on October 9, 2015 predisposed the Claimant to another injury, Dr. McCoy confirmed that the current tear requiring medical treatment is not a reoccurrence of the initial injury (R. p. 451, lines 3-10). Dr. McCoy concluded that there was either an acute incident or repetitive activities that lead the Claimant to having the current tear as evidenced on the December 12, 2017 MRI (R. p. 452, line 25 – R. p. 453, line 4).

During Dr. McCoy's subsequent deposition on April 4, 2019, he reaffirmed that the Claimant's current right shoulder condition involves a new tear that is not a reoccurrence of the prior rotator cuff tear from October 9, 2015; the Claimant's need for a surgical evaluation is related to the new tear as evidenced on the December 2017 MRI; that to a reasonable degree of medical certainty the new rotator cuff tear identified in December 2017 MRI occurred between 2-3 months prior to said MRI; the new tear in the Claimant's rotator cuff is a worsening of the Claimant's condition with regard to her right shoulder and none of these opinions changed after his first deposition (R. p. 505, line 24 – R. p. 507, line 10). Dr. McCoy also testified that once the Claimant returned after a year lapse in treatment, he performed an x-ray to analyze the bone anchor because it is possible for the hardware to move and be the source of the Claimant's complaints (R. p. 508, lines 4-11). At the time of the re-evaluation on September 20, 2017, Dr. McCoy confirmed that the bone anchor was in position without any movement (R. p. 508, lines 12-15). During the course of the April 4, 2019 deposition, Dr. McCoy also reviewed the photograph of films taken by Dr. Pappas (Claimant's IME provider) on February 15, 2019 and confirmed that the bone anchor was still in position based on those films as well (R. p. 509, lines 5-20).

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