RECEIVED

Jan 19 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2021-000585

Ana Rodriguez
Galvan, Employee,

Respondent,

v.

Griffin Stafford North
Charleston, Employer;
Accident Fund General
Insurance Company c/o
Accident Fund Insurance
Company of America,
Hartford Accident &
Indemnity Co., and
Employers Preferred
Insurance Company, Carriers,

Defendants.

of whom Griffin Stafford
North Charleston, Employer,
and Employers Preferred
Insurance Company, Carrier,
are the Appellants,

and Accident Fund General
Insurance Company c/o
Accident Fund Insurance
Company of America and

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

Finally, Appellants presumably assert the argument in a conclusory manner because there is no law in South Carolina supporting their position. South Carolina law is clear that, as ordered by the Commission, a carrier is responsible for medical treatment necessary to cure or relieve a

² Claimant addresses here Appellants’ argument I.c.

covered work injury. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60(A); *see also Munn v. Nucor Steel*, 336 S.C. 28, 30–32, 518 S.E.2d 289, 290 (Ct. App. 1999) (holding that employer is required to furnish treatment necessitated by work injury). There is nothing in South Carolina’s workers’ compensation laws that provides that where a physician determines that only certain treatments will be necessary in the future, that physician’s determination bars the Commission from concluding other treatments are necessary. Rather, “Section 42-15-60 specifically vest the authority to award additional benefits in the ‘judgment of the Commission.’” *Dodge v. Bruccoli, Clark, Layman, Inc.*, 334 S.C. 574, 584, 514 S.E.2d 593, 598 (Ct. App. 1999) (quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60). That Appellants’ position is contrary to South Carolina law is further shown by the numerous decisions concluding the Commission can order medical treatment even where doctors state the treatment is not necessary. *See, e.g., Hall v. United Rentals, Inc.*, 371 S.C. 69, 85, 636 S.E.2d 876, 885 (Ct. App. 2006) (holding the Commission did not err in ordering an employer to pay for medical treatment where the employer’s authorized provider opined the treatment was not necessary and that the claimant had reached maximum medical improvement); *Adkins v. Georgia-Pacific Corp.*, 350 S.C. 34, 564 S.E.2d 339 (Ct. App. 2002) (affirming the Commission’s order requiring an employer to pay for additional medical treatment despite the claimant having reached maximum medical improvement).

Therefore, because Appellants’ argument that the Commission failed to address whether Appellants remain liable for Claimant’s future medical treatment misstates the Commission’s ruling, is not preserved for appellate review, is a conclusory argument, and is contrary to South Carolina law, the argument should be rejected.

III. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN NOT RULING ON PERMANENT DISABILITY BENEFITS BECAUSE THAT ISSUE WAS NOT RAISED TO THE COMMISSION AND NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.³

Appellants contend the Commission erred in not ruling on Claimant's permanent disability benefits, but Appellants did not raise this issue to Commissioner Beck, and therefore, the issue is not preserved for appellate review. For an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) ("At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge."). For workers' compensation claims, the "trial judge" is the single commissioner, and an issue is not preserved for appellate review unless raised to and ruled upon by the single commissioner. *See Rummage v. BGF Indus.*, Op. No. 5822 (Ct. App. Sept. 22, 2021) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 33 at 64–66) (holding the claimant had not preserved an issue where she raised it for the first time before the Commission's Appellate Panel).

Here, Appellants did not raise the permanency issue to Commissioner Beck. At the hearing, Commissioner Beck stated that Claimant "wishes to hold the issue of compensability to the neck in abeyance pending the surgical outcome of the right shoulder and ask that permanency under any scenario be held in abeyance in this matter as well." (R. p. 728) Appellants did not object to Claimant's request that permanency be held in abeyance. Therefore, Appellants failed to preserve the issue of permanency for appellate review.

Furthermore, the Commission ruling on permanency would have been improper at this procedural posture. A claimant is entitled to additional workers' compensation benefits beyond the costs of treatment where the work injury leaves the claimant disabled. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§

³ Claimant addresses here Appellants' argument I.b. which appears to also be Appellants' issue 2 in Appellants' Statement of Issues on Appeal.

42-9-20 & -30; *Johnson v. Beauty Unlimited Landscape Co.*, 379 S.C. 403, 408, 665 S.E.2d 656, 659 (Ct. App. 2008). When treatment restores the claimant to her pre-injury condition, the claimant is not disabled. *Johnson*, 379 S.C. at 408, 665 S.E.2d at 659. Therefore, a permanency determination cannot be made until the claimant completes corrective treatment and reaches maximum medical improvement.

Here, the Commission found Claimant needs a second surgery and has not reached MMI. The Commission cannot determine whether Claimant has a permanent disability until Claimant has had the recommended surgery and reached MMI. Therefore, Appellants seeking a permanency determination at this juncture is premature and improper, and even were the issue preserved, the Commission did not err in not making a permanency determination.

IV. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING THE SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT OF DR. PAPPAS BOTH BECAUSE APPELLANTS OFFERED NO ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO THE COMMISSION'S BASIS FOR ADMITTING THE REPORT AND BECAUSE THE REPORT WAS ADMISSIBLE UNDER *MORGAN v. JPS AUTOMOTIVES*.

Appellants contend the Commission erred in affirming the admission of Dr. Pappas' supplemental report, but Appellants waived the issue below and have now abandoned the argument by failing to identify any purported error in the Commission's ruling on the issue. Furthermore, even were the issue properly before the Court, the Commission did not err in admitting the supplemental report of Dr. Pappas, and at worst, the admission of Dr. Pappas' report would be harmless error.

First, Appellants waived the issue of the admissibility of Dr. Pappas report because at the hearing before Commissioner Beck, Appellants objected to the admission of Dr. Pappas' supplemental report, and in response, Commissioner Beck offered to continue the hearing to provide Appellants the opportunity to depose Dr. Pappas. (R. pp. 4-5, 12, & 727, lines 5-24)

Appellants declined the opportunity to continue the hearing to a later date and depose Dr. Pappas, yet now contend the admission of Dr. Pappas' supplemental report was improper. The purpose of Regulation 67-612's requirement that evidentiary submissions be made in advance of hearings must be to provide parties an opportunity to review the evidence and conduct any further discovery necessary to assess the evidence. Here, Appellants were offered that opportunity but waived it. Appellants cannot be offered the relief they request, decline that relief, and then claim the failure to receive that relief was error. Appellants were afforded the relief they requested and waived any issue regarding the admissibility of Dr. Pappas' supplemental report.

Second, the Commissioner admitted Dr. Pappas' supplemental report over Appellants' objection on the following grounds: "[Preferred Insurance's] objection to the questionnaire of Dr. Pappas is overruled as I afforded [Preferred Insurance] the opportunity to depose Dr. Pappas before proceeding with the hearing and they declined." (R. p. 12) Appellants' brief to the Commission fails to make any argument that Commissioner Beck erred in finding that Appellants being offered and declining the opportunity to continue the hearing and depose Dr. Pappas was a sufficient basis for overruling Appellants' objection to the admission of the supplemental report. Similarly, Appellants' brief to the Court does not assert any error in the Commission's ruling that Appellants being afforded the opportunity to continue the hearing and depose Dr. Pappas was a legally sufficient basis for overruling Appellants' objection. Having failed to assert any error in the Commission's basis for affirming the denial of the objection, Appellants abandoned this issue. *See Biales v. Young*, 315 S.C. 166, 168, 432 S.E.2d 484, 484 (1993) (holding that a failure to argue there was an error in the alternative basis for a trial court's ruling was an abandonment of the issue and precluded appellate review of the issue); *Harris v. Campbell*, 293 S.C. 85, 87, 358 S.E.2d 719, 720 (Ct. App. 1987) (holding the appellants failed to raise an issue for appellate review where the

appellants objected to the admission of evidence as hearsay but on appeal failed to argue there was any error in the trial judge ruling that the evidence was admissible under exceptions to the hearsay rule).

Even if the issue were not waived, the issue had been preserved, and the Commission's ruling that the report was admissible because Appellants declined to continue the hearing and depose Dr. Pappas was erroneous, all of which are not the case, the Commission still properly admitted the report under *Morgan v. JPS Automotives*. In *Morgan*, the claimant stated in her pre-hearing brief that she was being evaluated by a vocational expert, that the examination and subsequent report were scheduled for shortly after the hearing date, and that she requested the hearing be adjourned with the record left open for the submission of the vocational expert's materials. 321 S.C. 201, 203, 467 S.E.2d 457, 459 (Ct. App. 1996). Applying Regulation 67-613 of the South Carolina Code of Regulations, the Court held the Commissioner should have adjourned the hearing for the submission of additional evidence. *Id.* at 203-04, 467 S.E.2d at 459. The Court rejected the employer's argument that adjournment was not permitted under Regulation 67-613 because the expert had not yet evaluated the claimant, finding "the fact that [the expert] had evaluated [the claimant's] records sufficient to conclude the evidence was in existence at the time of the hearing." *Id.*

Here, the supplemental report of Dr. Pappas falls squarely within the situations in which Regulation 67-613 and the *Morgan* decision permit a hearing to be adjourned and the record left open. Unlike the admissible evidence in *Morgan* which had not yet been prepared by the expert, much less submitted in advance of the hearing, here it is undisputed that the supplemental report of Dr. Pappas was submitted in advance of the hearing. Therefore, the report was in existence and identified prior to the hearing. The only remaining requirement for the supplemental report to be

admissible under Regulation 67-613 and *Morgan* is that it have been “necessary for the decision.” S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-613(C)(1); *Morgan*, 321 S.C. 203–04, 467 S.E.2d at 459. Appellants presented no argument before the Commissioner or the Commission and do not present any argument to this Court as to why Dr. Pappas’ supplemental report would not be necessary to the decision.

Furthermore, the admissibility of the supplemental report was an issue within Commissioner Beck’s discretion. *See Trotter v. Trane Coil Facility*, 393 S.C. 637, 645, 714 S.E.2d 289, 293 (2011); *Risher v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Enviro. Control*, 393 S.C. 198, 206, 712 S.E.2d 428, 432 (2011). Commissioner Beck’s determination that the supplemental report was necessary to the decision is supported by the evidence in the record and was within Commissioner Beck’s discretion. Dr. Pappas’ supplemental report presents evidence on whether the injury necessitating Claimant’s second shoulder surgery was a new injury or the recurrence and continuation of her October 9, 2015 injury. While not “necessary” in the strictest sense of that term because other evidence in the record supports the Commission’s decision that the injury was a recurrence and continuation of the original injury, the supplemental report is “necessary” in that it is needed as support for the Commission’s decision. *See New Oxford American Dictionary* 1171 (3rd ed. 2010) (defining “necessary” as meaning “needed” in addition to the stricter meanings of “required” and “essential”).

Finally, even were there any error in the admission of Dr. Pappas’ supplemental report, the error would be harmless error. *See Muir v. C.R. Bard, Inc.*, 336 S.C. 266, 299, 519 S.E.2d 583, 600 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding the admission of a doctor’s report could not warrant reversal because it was harmless error). Where improperly admitted evidence is cumulative of other evidence in the record, the admission of the improper evidence is harmless error. *Id.* Here, Dr. Pappas’

supplemental report is cumulative of the other evidence in the record supporting a finding that Claimant's tendon tear necessitating a second shoulder surgery is a recurrence and continuation of her October 9, 2015 injury, including Dr. Pappas' medical exam notes, Dr. McCoy's exam notes and testimony, and Claimant's testimony. Dr. Pappas' exam notes state that Claimant "has clearly not achieved" MMI, has a "possible failed rotator cuff repair," and needs additional tests to determine whether she has "a residual rotator cuff tear." (R. p. 798) The failure to reach MMI, the failure of a rotator cuff repair, and a residual rotator cuff tear are all consistent with a continuation and recurrence of Claimant's original injury and inconsistent with a new injury.

Similarly, Dr. McCoy stated in his report from a March 29, 2018 evaluation of Claimant: "We think she is probably looking at a new surgery on her right shoulder. . . . We think to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that this situation is directly related to her work injury from 2015." (R. p. 664) Dr. McCoy testified in his deposition that Claimant would not "be where she is right now if it hadn't been for the original work-related injury." (R. p. 449, lines 7-9)

Claimant testified that she did not suffer any new injury to her shoulder. (R. p. 745, line 18-p. 746, line 9) She also testified that she could not have suffered a new injury to her shoulder because she had not been using that arm. (R. p. 745, line 18-p. 746, line 9)

Therefore, even if the Commission did not have Dr. Pappas' supplemental report in the record, the notes of Dr. Pappas and Dr. McCoy and the testimony of Dr. McCoy and Claimant would result in there still being substantial evidence in the record supporting the Commission's decision that Claimant's need for further treatment results from the recurrence and continuation of her October 9, 2015 injury. Accordingly, any error in the admission of Dr. Pappas' supplemental report would be harmless error.

In conclusion, the Court should affirm the Commission on the issue of the admission of Dr. Pappas' supplemental report because Appellants waived the issue, because Appellants abandoned the issue by not asserting there was any error in the Commission's basis for admitting the report, because the report is admissible under *Morgan v. JPS Automotives*, and because any error was harmless error.

V. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN DESIGNATING DR. PAPPAS AS THE TREATING PHYSICIAN BECAUSE APPELLANTS DID NOT PRESERVE THE ISSUE, BECAUSE APPELLANTS' ARGUMENT IS CONCLUSORY, AND BECAUSE THE COMMISSION DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION.

Appellants' contention that the Commission erred in designating Dr. Pappas as Claimant's new authorized treating physician should be rejected for any of several reasons. First, the issue is not preserved for appellate review. For an appellate court to review an issue, the issue "must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court." *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000). When the issue was raised to Commissioner Beck, Appellants did not object to Dr. Pappas being named the new treating physician and offered no argument on the issue. Accordingly, the Court should reject Appellants' arguments on this issue as unpreserved.

Second, even were the issue preserved, Appellants' argument is conclusory and should be rejected as such. For an asserted error to be properly before this Court, the appellant must provide arguments and supporting authority, and an assertion lacking such arguments and authority is a conclusory assertion that has been abandoned by the appellant. *See, e.g., First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) ("Appellant fails to provide arguments or supporting authority for his assertion. Thus, he is deemed to have abandoned this issue."); *Mulherin-Howell v. Cobb*, 362 S.C. 588, 600, 608 S.E.2d 587, 593-94 (Ct. App. 2005) ("Initially, we note Council failed to cite any supporting authority for this position. Further, all arguments made are merely conclusory assertions. Concomitantly, the Council abandoned the issue on appeal

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